RECEIVED

07-30-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2013AP1111 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2009CF792

> STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

> > v.

JIMMY L. POWELL, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. STEPHEN E. EHLKE, PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> SUZANNE EDWARDS State Bar No. 1046579 2796 Spring Valley Rd Dodgeville WI 53533 Telephone: 608-935-7079

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN ADMITTING AS OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE POWELL'S HISTORY OF DRUG DEALING.

The circuit court admitted the evidence of Powell dealing drugs for ten years as context for the crimes alleged.

II. WHETHER THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED THE INSTRUCTION ON MISTAKE DID NOT RELATE TO POWELL'S DEFENSE.

The circuit court declined to instruct the jury on mistake.

III. WHETHER THE SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY MISSTATED THE LAW AND CREATED A MANDATORY PRESUMPTION.

The circuit court limited the time the jury was to consider utter disregard to the time Powell was operating his vehicle.

IV. WHETHER POWELL RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The circuit court did not find Powell received ineffective assistance of counsel.

V. WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE UTTER DISREGARD ELEMENT NECESSARY FOR CONVICTION.

The circuit court found the evidence supported the conviction for First Degree Reckless Injury.

VI. WHETHER THE BAIL MONEY ON THE TWO ACQUITTED COUNTS SHOULD HAVE BEEN RETURNED TO THE POSTERS.

The circuit court ordered the all \$30,000 to be paid to the victim towards restitution.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant, Jimmy L. Powell, does not request oral argument as the briefs will adequately present the case. Publication is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jimmy L. Powell, ("Powell") was charged in a Complaint dated May 12, 2009 with Count 1: Attempt - First Degree Intentional Homicide contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.01(1)(a), Count 2: First Degree Reckless Injury contrary to Wis. Stat. §940.23(1)(a), and Count 3: Attempt – Armed Robbery contrary to Wis. Stat. §943.32(2). (R.1.)

At the initial appearance on May 9, 2009, bail was set by the court commissioner:

"The lowest bail that I would be willing to consider under these circumstances would be - oh, Lord, \$10,000 on each of the three counts for a total of \$30,000. (R.102, p.6.)

The amended bail/bond states \$10,000 per count. (R.26, A-Ap.101.)

A preliminary hearing was held on June 30, 2009 at which Powell was bound over for trial on the matters. (R.105.)

Powell posted bail for three bonds at \$10,000 each. The first bond was for Count 1 with offense number 416482. Five bond receipts totaling \$10,000 were credited towards Charge: 940.01 - Homicide 1st Deg Intentional. The surety who signed the bond receipts was Freida Brown. (R.135, A-Ap.103-107.)

The second bond was for Count 2 with offense number 416483. Six bond receipts totaling 10,000 were credited towards Charge: 940.23(1)(a) – 1st Deg Reckless Injury. The surety who signed the bond receipts was Karen Garcia. (R.135, A-Ap.108-113.)

The third bond was for Count 3 with offense number 416484. Six bond receipts totaling \$10,000 were credited towards Charge: 943.32(2) Armed Robbery. The sureties who signed the bond receipts were Freida Brown and Karen Garcia. (R.135, A-Ap.114-119.)

On each bond receipt is the following:

SURETY CERTIFICATION:

I, the undersigned surety, do hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of this bond and a copy of the Surety Notification. I do further declare that I understand all the conditions of this bond as set forth in the General Conditions of Bond. (R.135, A-Ap.103-119.)

On April 15, 2010, the circuit court held a motion hearing on trial and evidentiary issues. (R.110.) The State's motion in limine, item 9 stated:

Determination regarding the admissibility of evidence regarding the prior relationship between the defendant and the victim Robert Rabe. (A footnote then appears stating: Over an approximate ten-year period, the defendant and the victim engaged in an estimated thirty to forty previous drug transactions during which the victim purchased drugs from the defendant without incident or violence.) The present case is steeped in the context of a drug deal. Rabe telephoned the defendant to buy cocaine. The defendant and Rabe agreed on a location, remote and dark. The drug deal went "bad." The victim alleges that the defendant was the primary physical aggressor, threatening to cut him, stealing his money and cutting his throat. The defense alludes to a selfdefense claim. The fact that these two conducted "peaceable" drug transactions in the past is not only

relevant, but provides an essential context for the crime, demonstrating the previous relationship between the parties, which a jury must consider when making credibility determinations regarding what occurred on 05/01/2009. Furthermore, in the absence of evidence of this prior relationship, Mr. Rabe's unflinching identification of the defendant from a sequential photo lineup is not only without explanation but also lacking in terms of credibility. (A footnote appears here stating: The opportunity the witness had for observing and for knowing the matters the witness testified about. Wisconsin JI 300.) (R.34, p.3, A-Ap.120)

Trial counsel Steven Cohen argued:

I understand some context might be appropriate, but I think it should be limited. I think, you know, telling the jury that they've had a substantial relationship based on drugs for the last 10 years might be prejudicial to Mr. Powell and not probative of anything. I know they'll want to show that Mr. Rabe would have a good basis to identify Mr. Powell, but I don't think we need to go back 10 years to do that. So I think that maybe some limiting parameters would be appropriate. (R.110, p.46, A-Ap.121.)

The circuit court stated:

Well, I'm going to allow that testimony because I think it does set the stage for what happened here. I think the jury would be like totally in the dark in terms of, like, why in the world does somebody go out on this night to meet this person and meet with them for this transaction. I mean, the State is allowed to put the case into context and to explain the nature of the relationship of the parties.

So Number 9 in granted. The State can put in their past dealings with each other. I don't think that in the context of this particular case that it would be overly prejudicial. To some extent I suppose it's prejudicial to the victim and the defendant; the jury's going to hear that both of them were involved with drug dealing. But I think that from what I know of the case the drug dealing aspect of this is not going to be really what they're focusing on, and I don't think that the -- Well, let's put it this way, its relevance is not outweighed by its prejudicial nature. (R.110, pp.46-47, A-Ap.121-122.) A five-day jury trial was held between April 19, 2010 through April 23, 2010. The jury found Powell not guilty on Counts 1 and 3 and guilty on Count 2. (R.111-R.116.)

Powell was sentenced on Count 2 to twentythree (23) years in the Wisconsin State Prison System with thirteen (13) vears of initial confinement followed by ten (10) years of extended supervision. (R.71, R.73.) After a restitution hearing, Powell was ordered to pay Rabe restitution of \$65,456. (R.119, R.93.) Bail money was ordered held until further order of the court on June 8, 2010. (R.65.)

Powell filed a motion for postconviction relief on October 31, 2012.¹ (R.127.) A hearing on the motion was held on February 22, 2013. (R.142.)

The circuit court gave its oral ruling denying the motion on April 29, 2013. (R.143, A-Ap.136-163.) On April 30, 2013, the circuit court ordered all \$30,000 posted for bail be released to the victim, Robert Rabe for payment towards restitution. (R.140, A-Ap.165.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 30, 2009, Robert Rabe, ("Rabe") and his friend Ryan Ryckman, ("Ryckman") got together at Rabe's auto shop to do some repairs and later to drink some beer. (R.113, pp.153-154, R.112, pp.118-119.) Around 6:00 p.m., the two drove to the liquor store to buy some beer. At that time, Rabe testified he had over \$900 in his wallet. (R.113, p.154.) Rabe testified he drank between 6 to 8 beers. (R.113, pp.156, 206.) Later, Ryckman returned to the liquor store to purchase more beer with his own money. (R.112, p.121.) Ryckman indicated that his intoxication level was such that

¹ Appellate counsel originally filed a No-Merit report in Case No. 2012AP254CRNM and subsequently withdrew it.

most of the evening after 9:00 p.m. is blacked out. (R.112, p.122.)

Rabe testified he called Powell sometime before midnight, left a message indicating he wanted to purchase cocaine. At trial, the parties stipulated that Rabe called Powell at 12:26 a.m., 1:29 a.m., 1:43 a.m., 2:13 a.m., 2:14 a.m., and 2:16 a.m. (R.113, p.205.)

Rabe stated he had previously purchased cocaine from Powell at least 35 to 40 times, perhaps more. (R.113, pp.157, 188, 190, 205.) Powell testified that Rabe bought cocaine from him at least once per week for the past ten years. (R.114, p.252, R.115, p.6.)

Powell returned the phone call and arranged to meet Rabe. (R.113, p. 158, R.114, p.253.) Rabe and Ryckman drove to Eagle Crest Tavern to meet Powell. (R.113, p.159-160, 191.) Upon arriving at Eagle Crest, Powell rolled down his car window and told Rabe to follow him in his vehicle. (R.113, p.160 R.114, pp. 255-256.) They drove to a parking lot at Proscapes Landscaping two blocks away on County Road T. (R.113, pp.161, 193, R.114, p.55.) It was dark in the area where they parked. (R.113, p.163.) Rabe did not find it unusual to be in a dark location. (R.113, p.164.) Rabe testified he did not have a knife on him and never carries a weapon. (R.113, p.164.) Rabe testified that there had never been any hostility between himself and Powell. (R.113, p.165.) Rabe understood the price for the cocaine was \$100 and he took cash from his wallet and put it in his right front pants pocket. (R.113, p.166.) Rabe then walked to Powell's vehicle and got in the passenger seat. As soon as Rabe got in the vehicle, Powell handed him either two or three rocks of cocaine. (R.113, pp.167-168, R.114, p.261, R.115, p.8.) Rabe said Powell turned the radio up loud. (R.113, pp.169, 197.) Powell testified he had turned the radio turned up when Rabe got in the vehicle. (R.114, p.261.)

Rabe testified that after he received the cocaine from Powell that Powell said "[g]ive me the money or I'm going to cut your throat." Rabe thought Powell was joking and that Powell had a knife. (R.113, pp.169, 213.)

Powell testified that after he gave Rabe the cocaine, that he was playing with his phone when he was suddenly struck in the face by Rabe. (R.114, p.262, R.115, pp.14-15.) Powell testified he saw stars when he was hit and was injured by the blow. (R.115, p.15.) As Rabe attempted to get out of the vehicle, Powell grabbed him by the shoulder and the top of his head. (R.114, p.263.) Rabe then moved with sufficient force to leave his hair in Powell's hand causing a bald spot. Powell testified that Rabe never gave him any money for the drugs and that he had no reason to believe Rabe had a lot of money on him. Powell stated that Rabe continued to fight with him and so he got out of his vehicle, that the vehicle went forward, and he returned to the vehicle to put it in park. (R.114, pp.264-265.) Powell then asked Rabe for the drugs and told him he would call the police if Rabe did not comply. Powell testified Rabe attacked him again with another hit to the face. (R.114, p.267, R.115, p.16.) Powell then dropped his phone and Rabe grabbed his shirt at the shoulders and kneed him in the rib area. (A cell phone was found at the scene in the open position.) (R.112, pp.201, 245, R.113, pp.30, 33, 36.) Rabe ripped Powell's shirt and a button popped off. Powell fell down on his hands and knees while Rabe was still kneeing him. Powell said that once he pushed Rabe away and was back on his feet, Rabe pulled a knife from his right front pocket. (R.114, pp.268-269, R.115, p.16.) Powell, feeling threatened, then tried to pull the knife away, but could not get the knife away from Rabe. (R.114, p.270, R.115, pp.16-18, 51.) Powell had a cut on his thumb that he assumed he got during the struggle. (R.115, p.18.)

Powell jumped back into his vehicle which was still running. The headlights were off according to Powell and the passenger door was still open. (R.114, p.271.) Powell's vision was blurry from the altercation as he threw the vehicle into gear. (R.114, pp.272-273.) Powell's main concern was to leave so he would not be hurt any further. Powell testified about injuries to both his eyes, his nose, and cheek area. (R114. pp.259-260.) Powell tried to leave the scene quickly and hit the gas. Powell testified he drove straight ahead and all he was thinking about was hitting the gas. (R.114, p.273.)

Rabe testified he was on the passenger side of the vehicle when Powell pulled forward. (R.113, p.224.) Powell said he then felt a bump and thought he had gone in the ditch or possibly ran someone over. (R.114, p.273.) Powell did not try to hit Rabe with his vehicle. (R.114, p.274.) Powell testified he did not see Rabe before hitting him with the vehicle. Later on cross-examination, Powell stated Rabe was standing when he was leaving the parking lot. (R.115, p.18.) Powell left the parking lot with his headlights off. (R.115, p.19.) He drove for about ten or twenty seconds before he returned to the scene with his headlights still off. (R.114, p.274, R.115, p.19.) When he returned, Powell saw someone standing over someone on the ground. Powell testified he felt shocked and questioned whether he had hurt somebody by running them over. (R.114, p.275.)

Powell acknowledged his voice was on the 911 recording saying, "[h]old still or I'm calling the police." He testified that he was speaking to Ryckman because Ryckman was walking towards him and he did not know where the knife was. Ryckman was on the cell phone. Powell is heard on the 911 recording saying, "[i]s he okay?" and was referring to Rabe when saying "he." Also, Powell is heard saying, "[d]id you call the police first...," and "[c]all the police." Later, Powell was the one who said, "I'm not playing" on the 911 recording and that it was probably directed at Ryckman. Powell testified the only thing that was going on in his head was to tell Ryckman to call the police. Powell thought Ryckman had Powell's cell phone having picked it up where Powell dropped it. (R.47, R.48, R.114, pp.275-276, 278 R.115, pp.21-23, A-Ap.123-124.) A struggle for the phone ensued during which the phone broke. (R.115, p.26.) Powell then left the scene again. (R.115, p.29.)

Rabe testified he had the passenger door open and had one foot on the ground outside the vehicle as he tried to get the money out of his pants pocket. (R113, p.170.) Rabe testified that the vehicle lunged forward and he fell on the ground. Powell then got out of the vehicle and Rabe got back up. Although Rabe's memory is fuzzy as to the events, he remembered a scuffle as he tried to give Powell the money. (R.113, pp.171-173, 222.) Rabe stated that he did not see a knife when Powell was outside the vehicle. (R.113, p.174.) Rabe testified there was a tussle outside the passenger's side of the vehicle and that his wallet contents flew in front of the vehicle. (Cards were found strewn about the scene.) (R.113, p.20.) Rabe was on the ground when Powell's vehicle ran over his head with the right rear tire. (R.113, pp.176, 223-224.) Rabe remembered yelling to Ryckman to call 911, but has no other memories. (R.113, p.178.) First responders arrived at the scene at approximately 2:33 a.m. (R.114, p.101.)

Rabe was questioned by law enforcement at the hospital. (R.113, pp.179-180.) He indicated to detectives that Powell had cut his throat, but he did not remember being attacked from behind. (R.113, pp.181-182, 236.) Rabe stated he did not recall ever punching Powell in the face or eye area. (R.113, pp.186, 219.) Rabe testified he never saw the money he had with him after that night. (R.113, pp.187, 232.) When law enforcement showed Rabe a photo of the knife recovered on County Road T, Rabe said he had never seen that knife before. (R.114, p.124.)

Ryckman testified he sat in the vehicle while Rabe went to get the cocaine from Powell. (R.112, pp.126-127.) Ryckman does not recall how he got out of the vehicle but that he saw Rabe underneath Powell's vehicle and then being run over by a passenger's side tire. (R.112, pp.128, 154.) Ryckman was standing outside Rabe's pp.145-146.) Ryckman vehicle. (R.112, also testified he saw Powell and Rabe in a boxing stance. (R.112, pp.146, 149, 169-170.) At trial, Ryckman did not remember if Rabe was standing or prone prior to getting run over, however on redirect examination he states he told law enforcement Rabe was prone when the vehicle ran over him. He also told law enforcement that he saw Rabe fall to the ground. (R.112, pp.82, 187, 212.) Ryckman also told law enforcement that he thought someone intentionally drove over Rabe. (R.112, pp.205, 215, R112, p.82.) Ryckman remembers making the 911 call. (R.112, pp.129, 166-167.) Ryckman testified that after Rabe got run over, a man drove up in a dark-colored SUV while he was on the phone with 911. He further testified that this man shoved him and snatched the phone out of his hand breaking the phone in two. (R.112, pp.79-80, 139-142, R.113, p.80.) Ryckman testified he told the 911 operator he saw his friend get run over, but did not mention seeing a knife. (R.112, p.155.) Ryckman likewise testified he did not see Rabe be attacked with a knife while he knelt down and was holding Rabe. (R.112, p.160.) Ryckman further did not see anyone go through Rabe's pockets. (R.112, p.161.)

A three-inch blade knife found at the scene in the middle of Highway T, revealed Rabe's DNA, (although no blood,) on the knife blade with Powell and Ryckman as contributors to a mixture of DNA detected. (R.112, p.258, R.113, pp.35, 70, 261, 263.) The handle of the knife revealed both Powell's and Rabe's DNA. (R.113, pp.262-263.) Three cell phones were found at the scene, one was broken, one was open, and one was in the pockets of a jacket. (R.113, p.14.)

Rabe's injuries included a fractured right mandible and a laceration about the jaw line on his right side. Powell's expert Dr. Bentz, a plastic surgeon, opined that the laceration most likely occurred as a result of blunt force trauma. (R.114, pp.288-289.) The State's medical expert, Dr. Kudsk described Rabe's injuries to also include facial fractures, two fractured ribs, and a fracture near the spinal column. (R.113, pp.43, 47.) Dr. Kudsk also opined the laceration was a product of blunt force. (R.113, pp.53-54.)

Detective Anderson, who was investigating the case, testified he spoke with Powell via telephone on May 2, 2009. Anderson asked Powell if he knew why he was being contacted and Powell responded, "[n]o. My mind ain't right." (R.114, pp.165-166.) Ten minutes later, Powell called Anderson and told him he would give him a statement when he was in the Dane County Jail the following week for an OWI sentence. (R.114, pp.167-168.) On May 5, 2009, Anderson met Powell in the lobby of the Public Safety Building. (R.114, pp.169-170.) Powell knew who Anderson was because he had found his name on the Wisconsin Association of Homicide Investigators' website. Powell indicated to Anderson that he thought Anderson was there to talk to him about a homicide. (R.114, p.171.) When Anderson told Powell he was not there to talk about a homicide. Powell reacted by dropping his head, crying, and breathing very heavily and rapidly. He eventually dropped to the floor with his back up against the wall. (R.114, p.172.) Anderson noticed discoloration under both eves. Powell's right thumb was also cut. (R.114, pp.173, 178.)

A photograph taken at 12:50 a.m. on May 1, 2009 depicts Powell wearing a button down shirt and having no black eyes. (R.114, pp.249-250.) Willie Peat, Powell's friend, testified he saw him on the afternoon of May 1, 2009 and Powell had two fresh black eyes. (R.114, pp.241-242.) On May 5, 2009, Powell's friend, Erica Wyrick picked him up to take him to jail so he could serve an OWI sentence. She noticed Powell had black eyes and asked him about them, but Powell did not want to talk about it. (R.114, pp.48-49.)

Powell's phone records revealed calls were made to Meriter, St. Mary's, and University of Wisconsin hospitals' patient room information numbers on May 2, 2009. (R.114, pp.115-116.) There were also calls made to Detective Anderson. On May 3, 2009, Powell replaced the tires on the vehicle he had driven on the night Rabe was injured. (R.115, p.36.)

At the jury instruction conference, the circuit court declined to instruct the jury on Powell's requested jury instruction on mistake. (R.115, pp.133-140, A-Ap.125-132.)

During jury deliberations, the court announced the jury had submitted two questions to the court. The first question read:

Please provide us with a definition of 'utter disregard for human life.' (R.49, R.115, p.234, A-Ap.133.)

The second question was:

Is there a time element associated with the utter disregard? (before, during, and after.) (R.49, R.115, p.235, A-Ap.133.)

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