RECEIVED

11-04-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2013AP1111-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JIMMY L. POWELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHEN E. EHLKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SALLY L. WELLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1677 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wellmansl@doj.state.wi.us

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

¹ State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence? *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.03.

State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772-73, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998) (footnote omitted). The party offering the other acts evidence bears the burden of establishing the first two prongs by a preponderance of the evidence and then the burden shifts to the party opposing admission of the evidence to show that the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk or danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Marinez, 2011 WI 12, ¶19, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399.

Rabe's history of purchasing drugs from Powell for a period of ten years was admissible for acceptable purposes under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.04(2). Other acts evidence is admissible to show the context of the crime and to provide a complete explanation of the case. *Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 58. Other acts evidence is also admissible on the issue of identification. Context was necessary in this case for the jury to understand why Rabe would go to meet Powell in a dark, secluded place in the early morning hours. The evidence was relevant to identification for the jury to understand why Rabe could confidently identify Powell as the man who attacked and injured him, even though the crimes occurred in a dark, secluded place.

Evidence that Rabe had been purchasing drugs from Powell for ten years without incidence or violence was probative for these purposes even though drug dealing per se is not similar to the charged acts of violence. Moreover, similarity was shown, because there was evidence that it was not unusual for Rabe to meet Powell in a dark, secluded place to purchase drugs (113:164). Powell contends the evidence was not probative of identity because Rabe identified Powell from a photo line-up prior to trial and in court. Powell misses the point. The State had the burden to prove to the jury that Rabe's identification of Powell as his assailant was accurate and true. The fact that Rabe had known Powell

and purchased drugs from him under similar circumstances for a period of ten years made it more probable than it would otherwise be that Rabe had correctly identified Powell. Powell did testify at trial, admitted he was at the scene, and gave an exculpatory version of events. But, until he actually so testified, identity was a contested issue. Moreover, the State has the obligation -- and the right -- to prove all necessary parts of its case.

Powell contends that even if the evidence was offered for proper purposes and was probative of those purposes, the evidence should have been excluded because of the risk of unfair prejudice that the jury would convict Powell to punish him for his ten years of uncharged drug dealing. The probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by this risk of prejudice. The crimes on trial occurred during a drug deal that went bad. Powell implicitly recognizes there was no way to shield the jury from knowing that Powell sold drugs to Rabe. The fact that Powell had sold Rabe drugs before did not significantly add to the prejudice that was inherent in the facts of the charged crimes. The fact that Rabe had been buying drugs from Powell for ten years, as opposed to some arbitrary lesser period of time, did not add significantly to the risk of prejudice. The fact that Powell was a drug dealer paled by comparison to the horrendous facts of the crimes of violence on trial. It was unlikely the jury would convict Powell to punish him for drug dealing or because he was a bad man because he sold drugs. The risk of undue prejudice to Powell was significantly reduced because the drug dealing history, as the trial court recognized, reflected on both men (110:46-47).

The evidence was not unduly prejudicial because the trial court did not give a limiting instruction. Neither side wanted the limiting instruction given. Therefore, the trial court had no obligation to give it. The State will demonstrate in a separate section of this brief below that trial counsel's strategic decision to forgo the limiting instruction did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

It is unlikely the jury punished Powell for his uncharged drug dealing because the jury acquitted him of the more serious offenses of attempted first degree intentional homicide and armed robbery, and convicted him only of first degree reckless injury based on the undisputed fact that he ran over Rabe with his SUV. *Sullivan*, upon which Powell relies, is distinguishable. In *Sullivan*, the defendant's character traits inferred from the bad acts evidence were more pertinent to the offense for which he was convicted than the offenses of which he was acquitted. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 790. Here, the same cannot be said. If the history of drug dealing was unduly prejudicial in this case, there is no reason it would not have influenced the jury equally on all three charges.

Even if the history of drug dealing between Rabe and Powell should not have been admitted, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Error is harmless if the reviewing court can determine beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999); *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 46-49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

The evidence of prior drug dealing was reasonably brief and unembellished. It was used by both parties only to show that there was no reason for either party to expect trouble at the crime scene because there had never been any problems between Powell and Rabe during their prior dealings. Both parties were culpable of drug involvement, so there was no reason the jury would find either party more or less sympathetic than the other based on their drug dealing history. The other act evidence was not gruesome or horrifying, unlike the actual facts of the charged crimes. The State's case on the offense of which Powell was convicted was strong: there was no dispute that Powell ran over Rabe with his SUV when he sped from the dark scene with his headlights out. For all of

these reasons, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. POWELL'S CHALLENGE TO THE SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTION SHOULD BE REVIEWED UNDER THE RUBRIC OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Powell seeks reversal of his conviction based on his claim that the supplemental jury instruction on utter disregard, given in response to a question the jury submitted during deliberations, misstated the law and created a mandatory presumption. However, at trial, he did not object to the supplemental instruction. Indeed, he expressly endorsed it (115:234-36). Under these circumstances, he is not entitled to review of right of the alleged error because he did not timely preserve that claim by making a contemporaneous objection in the trial court.

There are strong policy reasons underlying the forfeiture rule which demonstrate why it should be enforced.² It is a poor use of judicial resources to address claims on appeal that could have been raised and resolved at trial. State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).Adherence to the contemporaneous objection rule contributes to the finality of litigation and encourages parties to view the trial itself as a significant event that should be kept as error free as possible. State v. Davis, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 518, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996). Moreover, "the rule prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' errors, or failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 12, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727.

² The Wisconsin Supreme Court now uses the nomenclature forfeit and forfeiture instead of waive or waiver for claims, including constitutional claims, not timely raised or preserved at trial. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 25-26, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. Prior case law using the former terminology is still good law.

For these reasons, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has directed that the normal procedure in criminal cases is to address unpreserved claims within the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 766. Ordinarily, a criminal defendant who did not preserve a claim of error with a timely objection or request at trial can obtain relief only by showing the failure to object or make the request constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 44, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

Powell offers absolutely no reason why this normal procedure should not be used in his case.

Accordingly, the State will address Powell's claim only under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel.

III. TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT RENDER INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

A. Controlling Legal Standards
And Standard Of Appellate
Review.

A criminal defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel bears the burden of proving that trial counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient and that, as a result, he suffered actual prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985); *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 7.

There is a strong presumption that the defendant received adequate assistance and that all of counsel's decisions could be justified in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. See State v. Kimbrough, 2001 WI App 138, ¶¶ 31-35, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. An attorney's performance is not deficient unless the defendant proves the attorney's challenged acts or omissions were objectively unreasonable under all of the circumstances of the case. State v. Oswald, 2000 WI App

2, ¶ 49, 232 Wis. 2d 62, 606 N.W.2d 207; *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 8; *Kimbrough*, 246 Wis. 2d 648, ¶¶ 31-35.

The question is whether, under the circumstances of the case as they existed at the time of trial, the challenged conduct or failure to act could have been justified by an attorney exercising reasonable professional judgment. If so, there is no deficient performance. See Koller, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 8; Kimbrough, 246 Wis. 2d 648, \P 31-35. The test for deficient performance is whether counsel's conduct was objectively reasonable under the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct. *Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d at 636-37. Judicial review of counsel's performance is highly deferential and may not be based on hindsight. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; State v. Robinson, 177 Wis. 2d 46, 55-56, 501 N.W.2d 831 (Ct. App. 1993). The fact that the defendant was convicted does not render a reasonable strategic decision by counsel unreasonable. State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶¶ 43-44, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583. Trial counsel's strategic choices that were made after thorough consideration of the options in light of the relevant facts and law are virtually unchallengeable. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91. The reviewing court will second-guess counsel's strategic or tactical decision only if it is shown to be an irrational trial tactic or if it was based upon caprice rather than upon judgment. State v. Felton, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 502-03, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983).

The defendant must also prove counsel's challenged acts or omissions actually prejudiced the defense to the degree that defendant was deprived of a fair trial that yielded a reliable result. *Oswald*, 232 Wis. 2d 62, ¶ 50. To meet this burden, the defendant must prove there is a reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different, but for counsel's error. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 9.

On appellate review, the circumstances of the case, counsel's strategy choices, the acts counsel did or failed to do, and the reasons for counsel's decisions, acts and omissions are matters of historical and evidentiary fact. The appellate court is bound by the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Leighton*, 2000 WI App 156, ¶ 33, 237 Wis. 2d 709, 616 N.W.2d 126; *State v. Jones*, 181 Wis. 2d 194, 199, 510 N.W.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1993).

The appellate court determines de novo whether, under those facts, the defendant has proven deficient performance and prejudice. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 10. The reviewing court need not address both prejudice and deficient performance prongs if the defendant fails to prove either one of the prongs. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

B. Trial Counsel Did Not Render Ineffective Assistance In Regards To The Evidence Of Victim Rabe's Ten-Year History Of Buying Drugs From Powell.

Powell asserts trial counsel performed deficiently because he "should have ensured that the court used the *Sullivan* analysis and that the State properly put forth its argument for the admission of the evidence." Powell's brief at 31, and he should have asked for a limiting instruction.

The State filed a pre-trial motion to admit evidence that the victim, Rabe, had a ten-year history of buying drugs from Powell (34), Powell objected, and the trial court ruled the evidence admissible, without waiting for the State to orally supplement its motion (110:46-47). As the State demonstrated in Argument I, *supra*, even if the trial court did not specifically refer to the *Sullivan* analysis or fully articulate its reasoning, this court must affirm because the record contains facts that would support the

ruling if the trial court had fully exercised its discretion. Hunt, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 44-45. Accordingly, any alleged failure of trial counsel in arguing the motion was neither deficient nor prejudicial. Furthermore, Powell utterly fails to show that trial counsel could have done anything to control the trial court's decision process.

Trial counsel elected not to have the trial court give the other acts limiting instruction, Wis. JI-Criminal 275 (115:122-24). At the postconviction hearing, trial counsel thoroughly explained his reasons for handling the other acts evidence as he did:

- Q You did not ask for the jury to be instructed that other acts evidence should be considered with caution?
- A Correct.
- Q You didn't ask for that instruction?
- A Correct.
- Q Okay. Was there a reason behind that?

. . . .

Α

And so basically what that instruction does is it focuses the bad act onto the defendant. It says consider this to determine not defendant's bad character, but his -- some smaller relevant issues, such as identity or motive or something like that.

And I didn't want that in. I didn't want the ten-year drug dealing history to be focused on Mr. Powell. I wanted it in to focus it on Mr. Rabe. So the instruction would have been counter to my purpose. I wanted that evidence in to basically impeach Mr. Rabe's credibility.

As I said on direct, Mr. Rabe had indicated, oh, he had drugs a few times, he bought drugs a

few times from Mr. Powell. And that was dishonest. And so I had Mr. Powell testify, "No, I sold him drugs a lot. You know, we went way back." And that gave him credibility.

So to have the jury instruction then come back and say, well, you know, that's only for you to determine some aspects relevant to Mr. Powell, that's -- that completely focuses it in the wrong direction. I wanted the jury to know that Mr. Rabe was lying, that Mr. Rabe was a drug user. I wanted them to think about Mr. Rabe in a negative light, generally as a bad person, and specifically as having no credibility. So the jury instruction wasn't useful for establishing any of that

(142:40-41).

Powell makes no attempt to demonstrate that trial counsel's strategic decisions about how to handle the other acts evidence were objectively unreasonable, nor does the record support such a claim. Powell has utterly failed to prove that trial counsel's handling of the other acts evidence constituted deficient performance.

Powell has utterly failed to prove there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted but for trial counsel's alleged errors regarding the other acts evidence. As the State demonstrated in Argument I, *supra*, any error in admitting evidence of Rabe's ten-year history of buying drugs from Powell was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, Powell cannot and has not shown that any error of trial counsel regarding the evidence was prejudicial.

C. Trial Counsel's Strategic Decision To Endorse The Supplemental Instruction Did Not Constitute Deficient Performance And It Was Not Prejudicial.

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